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HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDINGS SURVEY HABS No. DC-176

METHODIST EPISCOPAL PARSONAGE HOUSE

-Location: 1221 28th Street, N.W., (Georgetown), Washington, D.C.
‘ The house is located on the East side of 28th Street
(formerly Montgomery) 26' from Olive Street.
Present Owner: Mr. John H. Aiken

Present Occupant: Same

Pregsent Use:

Statement of

Significance:

Private Residence

The two story front portion of this house is a good
example of an early 19th century modest frame
dwelling. It is one of the few surviving of this
type in the northeast section of Georgetown.

PART I. HISTORICAL INFORMATION

A. Physical History

1.

Original and subsequent owners: The building is located in
Square 121%, lot 26 (formerly Square 44, lot 21 out of lot
18). The following is an incomplete chain of title to the
property. The references are to the Recorder of Deeds,
Washington, D.C.

1801 Deed November 23, 1801, recorded November 31, 1801 in
Liber H folio 18
Anthony Holmead Sr. et ux Susanah
To
John G. Jones
Lots 18, 19, and 20 of Square ui4

1811 Deed August 27, 1811, recorded August 31, 1811 in
Liber AB folio 88
John G. Jones and wife Mary
To
Henry Foxall
Conveys lot 18 which is 56'10" on Montgomery Street
(now 28th) and 120' on Olive
Consideration: $600.00
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Deed January 1, 1851, recorded April 21, 1851 in 49

Liber JAS 23 folio 370

John Pickrell

John Davidseon

Robert White

Thomas Brown

Samuel McKennney

Samuel Wardell

William H, Edes

Sampson Simms

(Trustees of the Methodist Episcopal Church)
To

Rebecca Cartwright
"Part of lot 18 adjoining the Methodist Episcopal
Church having 30' on Montgomery Street and back
120', being the same devised by Henry Foxall to
the Trustees of the church for a parsonage ...."

Deed July 15, 1909, recorded July 15, 1909 in
Liber 3235 follio uu7
Frederick Fenning,
Guardian of William E. and Ruth Cartwright
To
Charles E. Tribby

Deed April 26, 1932, recorded April 28, 1932 in
Liber 6653 folio 1ul
Charles Tribby
To
Herbhert D. Tribby

Deed March 26, 1942, recorded April 1, 1842 in
Liber 7738 folio 53u
Herbert D. Tribby
To
Helen M. Early

Deed March 26, 1942, recorded April 1, 1942 in
Liber 7738 folio 539
Helen M, Early
To
Henrietta W. Weitz, et al

Deed April 10, 1942, recorded April 13, 1942 in
Liber 7742 folio 358
Henrietta W. Weitz
To
I. L. Morley
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Deed May 10, 1943, recorded May 22, 1943 in
Liber 7858 follo 389
I. L. Morley
To
Josephine Lambert

Deed November 30, 1944, recorded December 6, 1944 in
Liber 8044 folio 161
Josephine Lambert
To
Robert §. Sackett

Deed August 15, 1947, recorded August 15, 1947 in
Liber 8555 folio 1lug
Robert G. Sackett
To
Cloris B. Sackett

Deed June 22, 1948, recorded June 28, 1948 in
Liber 8777 folio 90
Cloris B, Sackett
To
Charles J. Ribar

Deed September 2%, 1953, recorded September 30, 1953 in
Liber 100680 folio 357
Charles J. Ribar
To |
John H. Aiken

Date of erection: By 1818-19. The Georgetown Assessments
(National Archives, Microcopy 605, group 351) give the
following information:

1815 (Roll 10)
Henry Foxall
vacant 5200
1818-19 (Roll 11)

Lot 18 Holmead Montgomery 56', 120' Olive
twe story frame 52,000

Architect: Unknown

|
|
|
|
Lot 18 Holmead 120' Olive 56'10" Montgomery
|
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Original plans, construction, etc: None known

Alterations and additions: The basement has been completely
refinished and remodelled intc a one bedroom apartment with
a private entry. The kitchen and back porch were added to
the first floor in the 20th century. Attic space has been
refinished and remodelled into an additional bedroom.

Important old views: None known

Historical Events Connected with the Structure:

1.

Washington City directories provide the following tenant
information:

1834 Rev, M, Hanson, Methodist precher, Montgomery
Street, east side

1858-63 Cartwright, laborer, h, 30 Montgomery

1865-80 William Cartwright, clerk and Rebecca Cartwright

1881-1909 Members of Cartwright family

1811-41 Thomas West

1942=-43 Mrs, May E., West

1948 Cloris B, Sackett

1949-53 Charles Ribar

1958-68 John H, Aiken

The early history of this house is closely related to the
history of the Methodist Episcopal Church which was located
to the south of the house (now the Corcoran School),

Henry Foxall, who purchased lot 18 in 1811 and built the
two story frame house between 1818 and 1819, was one of
the founders of the church., (Complete biographical infor-
mation on Henry Foxall is recorded in HABS No. DC-145),
The records of the church, February 11, 1824 describe the
commemoration of Foxall's death:

"After singing and prayers the object for which the
meeting was called was stated by the Chairman, where-
upon it was on motion of Bro: (Collins Resclved, That

the Steward of the M,E. Church of this town, be requested
to hang black cloth or cassimere around the pulpit of
gsaid church, and cover the Bible and Hymm book in like
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manner, on account of the lamented death of the late
excellent and esteemed Henry Foxall,."

The minutes of the Trustees of the Church, March 24, 1824

reveal that Foxall bequeathed the house on lot 18 to the

church 3

"It was determined by the Trustees to go into an
election to fell the,..by the death of the Reverend
Henry Foxall and a...and resignation of Joel Bovin{?].
Several personages were nominated by the Preacher,
when in counting the ballot it approved that John
MClean{?] and John Pickerell had a majority of the
votes and were declared duly elected. The Trustees
then considered deing certain repairs to the House
bequeathed to them by the Reverend Henry Foxall for
the use of the stationed Methodist preacher for the
time being; and it was unanimously determined that
the necessary repairs should be done under the
direction of John Pickerell, together with such Com-
mittee as may be appointed by the Leaders Meeting."

The records of the Leaders Meeting of March 25, 1824 tell

the committee of two was appointed to confer with the

Committee of the Trustees,

"George Town 5 April 1824 = Leaders Meeting

William C, Lipscomb from the Committee appointed by
the meeting of 25 March, to make the necessary repairs
to the Parsonage House, reported that proposals had
been received and the contract as far as necessary
had been made for the execution of the work, the
report was in part agreed to and the meeting recom-
mended that a frame priser [sic] be erected instead
of a brick one as reported by the committee."

The house seems to have been occupied by various preachers,

The minutes of the Leaders Meeting of April 21, 1834 reveal

that $350 was allowed to Reverend Hanson for "Table expenses
and fuel for the present conference year."

The Methodist Episcopal Church moved from 28th Street and
became the Dumbarton Avenue Methodist Church, A financial
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report to the Trustees of the new Dumbarton Avenue Church,

- 11 February 1857 reports that $2.00 in cash was paid for -

advertising the Parsonage and that $37.33 was spent in
rent of the old Parsonage. This would indicate that
although the Church no longer owned the house (see the
deed of 1851 recorded in Liber JAS 23 folio 370) they
continued to rent it until 1858 when the city directory
lists the occupants as the Cartwrights. (All records of
the Methodist Episcopal Church are now found in the
Library of the Dumbarton Avenue Methodist Church,
Georgetown. )

Mr. John Aiken, the present owner of the house, discovered
an old scrap of yellow paper about 4 1/2" x 2" which though
‘practically illegible, appears to be notation of payment of
some sort. It reads as follows:

"Samule Cartwright property sold = e .

George H. Morton to one set carpenter's tools  ~eww=-
John A. Billingsley bought on fa---~ noat 8.00
Oswell Dyson to waving approach noat 15.00

Prepared by Ellen J. Schwartz
Architectural Historian
Commission of Fine Arts
September, 1968

PART II. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION:

A. General Statement:

1.

Architectural character: 1221 28th Street is a good
example of a simple wood frame Federal house. Its 2 1/2
story facade retains the unadorned modesty it always must
have had. It is one of the few surviving side hall plan
frame dwellings in northeast Georgetown.
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2. Condition of fabric: Both interior and exterior are in 19

good-excellent condition. The interior has been exten-
sively remodelled but the basic floor plan and the five
wood mantelpieces remain in place and intact.

B, Deseription of Exterior:

1. Overall dimensions: This frame dwelling faces west onto
' 20th Street between M and Olive Streets with its north
wall approximately 40' south of the centerline of Olive
Street. The 2 1/2? story three bay facade is 25' wide and
the full depth of the house including the rear ell is
approximately u3',

2. Foundations: Foundations are of brick with an exposure
above street level of 1' at the west elevation and
approximately @' at the east elevation of the main block
of the house.

3. Wall construction: The main west gabled portion is of
wood frame construction covered by painted clapbeard.
. The narrower rear sections of unpainted red brick laid
in common bond.

L, Framing: The framing is not visible.

5. Porches, stoops, bulkheads, etc.: At the west elevation
an areaway 3' 3" wide and 7' deep extends across the
southern two-thirds of the elevation. Across the 6'
alley at the scuth side is a Flight of wood steps with
open risers.

A 8' 6" deep enclosed porech is located at the first floor
along the north half of the east side of the main block.
The wood frame porch is probably of 20th century date

and is enclosed on the east by sliding glass doors.

6. Chimneys: The dwelling has two brick chimneys; one at
the center of the south wall of the main block and the
other at the center of the east wall of the rear (brick)
section. &Each is approximately 4' by 2' in size and each

has a simple brick cap,
7. Openings:

a. Doorways and doors: The present west front doorway
. has a modern six panel door in a simply trimmed
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rectangular opening. The door is topped by a single _qﬁf

light rectangular transom.

b, Windows and shutters: Wood sash windows of the house
vary considerably from floor to floor and from front
to rear. The west facade has 9/6 light double-hung
sash on the second floor and 9/9 light sash on the
first floor. Most of these have had their early 19th
century sash replaced. Other windows of the west
section include 2/2 light double-hung sash at the east
elevation of the second floer and a 9/9 light double-
hung sash at each side of the fireplace at the first
floor. All of these appear to be later 19th century
or 20th century replacements. In the rear portion
of the house the pairs of windows at the north and
south sides of the dining room are 6/6 light double-~
hung sash. The upper sash of the two north windows
appear to be 19th century.

In the brick rear section the openings are bridged by
flat brick arches with single brick voussiors.

All of the five windows of the west elevation are
fitted with simple wood fixed louver shutters painted
white. '

8. Koof:

a. Shape, covering: The roof over the 2 1/2 story west
block is a simple gabled one with the ridge running
parallel to the street {north-south). The rear section
has a shed roof pitching up from north to socuth. Both
roofs are covered with painted standing seam metal.

bh. Cornice, eaves: The west elevation has a simple wood
boxed cornice painted white,

¢. Dormers, cupolas, towers: The attic level is lighted
by four dormers. The two on the west roof slope and
the southeast dormer have 6/6 light double-hung sash.
The 20th century dormer at the northeast has two 6/6
light sash,

C. Description of Interior:

1. Floor plans: The basic "L" plan shows a frame west
section with a north side hall and a nearly sguare room
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at the south. A two story {first floor and basement)

ell adjoins to the east of the southern half of the
westernh block., The first floor has a front living room,
a kitchen and a dining room in the east ell, and a porch
at the east end of the stairhall. The second and the
attic floors of the west section each contains a bedroom.
A bathroom of modern date is located at the northwest
corner of the second floor. There is a full basement
under both the east and west portions and this has been
recently renovated as a one bedroom apartment.

Stairways: The main half turn wood staircase from the
first to the second floor is 2' 8" wide. Ten 8' risers
extend from west to east to the landing and five back to
the second floor. The continuation of this stair to the
third floor is 1' 9" wide with seven 8 1/2" risers up from
the west to east to the landing., and a five riser return
to the attic (third floor}. Details of the stair include
a2 simple rounded wood railing, rectangular wood balusters
and 2 1/2" square newel posts. The posts are topped by
cap features in the form of a square beveled edge capping
block and a four piece cove-like molding under the block
around the post.

A straight run stair to the hasement descends from east
to west under the maln stair. The area under the south
edge of the main flight to the second floor has 20th
century diagonal boarding with access to the bhasement
stairs provided by a door at the east end of this
partition.

Flooring: Fine 19th century wide board pine flooring
running north-south is present in the first and third
floors. The second floor has 6~ 8" random width pine
flooring.

Wall and ceiling finish: Walls and ceilings are of plas-
ter and covered with paint or wall paper. The basement
wall finishes have been installed in the mid-20th century
as part of the extensive renovation of this level.

Doorways and deoors: There appear to be two 19th century
doors remaining in the house. One is a six panel door
at the basement level to the rear bedroom and the other
is a six panel door from the stairhall to the porch.
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Decorative features and trim: Interior features including g9q-
door trim, window trim, and baseboards are of 20th 1
century date with the exception of the baseboard at the
east wall of the second floor. This does appear to be of
19th century date and is a simple wood 5" baseboard.

Notable hardware: The one notable piece of hardware is

a nineteenth century lock box with brass knob, kevhole,
and slide lock, It is located at the door to the second
floor bedroom but has been relocated to this peosition from
another building.

Lighting: There is nothing of 19th century date or special
note.

Heating: The house possesses three handsome 19th century
mantelpleces. The fireplace at the second flcoor bedroom
has a brick hearth and fireback and a 20th century molded
wood trim surround. At the first floor the living room
fireplace has a brick hearth and fireback. It is surround-
ed by simple wood mantelpiece 4' " x 4' 8" high with a

6' 5" x 3" rectangular mantel shelf, There are no features
or pilasters other than a three piece raised wood trim
strip framing the fireplace opening. At the east wall

of the east brick section of the house the first floor
fireplace has a simple brick hearth and fireback. It is
surrcunded by a simple Federal unpainted wood mantelpiece
4% 8" x 47" 4" high. The 5' 4" x 9" rectangular mantel
shelf is supported by wood molding strips. As in the front
living room fireplace there are no other special features
except a three plece raised wood molding framing the
fireplace opening.

D. Site:

1.

General setting and orientation: 1221 28th Street is
located at the eastern edge of Georgetown on a street
of small row type houses.

Enclosures: The rear yard to the east and to the north of
the brick ell is edged by a wood fence about 7' in height.
At 3' 3" from the west facade a retaining wall about 7'
high provides an areaway for the hasement windows,

Another brick retaining wall at &' from the south wall
allows a passageway to the zside doorway to the basement
floor and to the rear yard to the east.
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Outbuildings: None

Walks: The west facade adjoins a brick street sidewalk,

Landscaping: The facade is bracketed by a pair of
medium sized walnut trees.

Prepared by: William P. Thompson
Architect
Commission of Fine Arts
April, 1989
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